2004

Lorin Blauer v. Utah Department of Workforce Services : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff and Appellant Lorin Blauer, a licensed attorney and Utah State career service employee since 1981, was the subject of a “corrective action” on September 9, 2003, in the form of a *de facto* demotion from his prior position, Legal/Enforcement Counsel III, for Defendant Department of Workforce Services, to Administrative Law Judge–Non-Juris Doctorate. He was afforded no pre-demotion hearing. When Plaintiff challenged the demotion through the career service employee grievance procedure provided by law, he was met with the declaration, first by Defendant/Appellee Department of Workforce Services (“DWS”) and then by the Career Service Review Board (“CSRB”), that he had no valid complaint as he had not been “demoted” at all as a result of the “corrective action”, but merely “reassigned.” CSRB refused jurisdiction to

¹ The December 8, 2004, Order remanded Plaintiff’s remaining claims (dealing with personnel rule violations) to the Career Service Review Board for further proceedings, finding that the Career Service Review Board had improperly declined jurisdiction thereof. No appeal is taken from this portion of the Court’s ruling.

hear the matter, declaring that no rule had been violated and plaintiff/appellate had not been demoted or suffered any other harm.

In considering Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (together with a blizzard of motions filed by Defendant/Appellee Department of Workforce Services), the lower court – ignoring completely established case precedent – concluded that, because Plaintiff did not receive a pay cut or lose benefits, his “reassignment”, even where taken as “corrective action” was, as a matter of law, not a “demotion” at all:

. . . [T]he court carefully considered the Plaintiff's argument that the court look to such factors as the change in his status and that his new responsibilities essentially fit the job description for the lower paying and apparently less esteemed position of Administrative Law Judge–Non-Juris Doctorate. While the Plaintiff argues this position admirably, the fact remains that *without a commensurate decrease in salary or a lower salary range (or the loss of retirement benefits), the Plaintiff cannot be considered demoted.*²

This Court's decision in *Draughon v. Dep't. of Financial Institutions*, 975 P.2d 935 (Utah App. 1999), as well as other case law and the current wording of administrative rules promulgated by the Department of Human Resource Management and DWS itself, simply preclude the trial court's categorical presumption that, absent loss of pay or benefits, no demotion occurred. Mr. Blauer is entitled to a hearing before the Career Service Review Board establishing that he was, in fact, “demoted” – and demoted without

² Trial Court's Memorandum Decision of August 16, 2004 (Attachment 2), at p. 3 (emphasis added).

cause – in violation of due process rights secured by both state and federal constitutional guarantees.

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final order and judgment of the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Leslie J. Lewis presiding. By her order (Attachment 1), the trial court granted in part, and denied in part, Plaintiff/Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment, remanding all grievances unrelated to his claims of demotion for further hearing before the Career Services Review Board, but holding that, as a matter of law, Plaintiff could claim no deprivation of any due process rights in his employment as Legal/Enforcement Counsel III to DWS, as his property rights in that employment had not been impacted by a "demotion."

Jurisdiction obtains pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(b).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FULL REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred in determining that Plaintiff was not "demoted" within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-302(1), when the Department of Workforce Services removed his responsibilities as Legal/Enforcement Counsel III (with the required qualifications of Juris Doctorate degree and membership in the Utah Bar, and the pay range of step 63-78), and assigned him to perform, full-time, the duties of an Administrative Law Judge–Non-Juris Doctorate (which does not require a Juris Doctorate degree or membership in the Utah State Bar, has less opportunity for

advancement, and is a pay range of step 51-66), even if no immediate change in pay was entailed. (Preserved at R. 367-487; 1005-1048.)

2. Whether the lower court erred in finding that Plaintiff's transfer, as described above, was not a "demotion" despite Utah Admin. Code R477-1-1(32), which defines demotion as:

An action resulting in a salary reduction on the current salary range or the movement of an incumbent from one job or position to another job or position having a lower salary range, which may include a reduction in salary . . .

(Preserved at R. 367-487; 1005-1048.)

3. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the demotion issue as described above, and finding that, as a matter of law, Mr. Blauer's transfer was not a demotion. (Preserved at R. 367-487; 1005-1048.)

The lower court's ruling was on motion for summary judgment, and is reviewable by this Court for correctness, giving no deference to the lower court's actions. *See Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991); *Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. City of Springville*, 1999 UT 25, 979 P.2d 332. All factual inferences are construed in favor of the appellant, and against the appellee. *See BlueCross & BlueShield v. State of Utah*, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

DETERMINATIVE CASE LAW AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

FEDERAL STATUTES

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

FEDERAL CASES

Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 577 (1972)

Gilbert v. Homar, 520 U.S. 924 (1997)

Hooks v. Diamond Crystal Specialty Foods, Inc., 997 F.2d 793

STATE CASES

Draughon v. Department of Financial Institutions, 975 P.2d 935

Lucas v. Murray City Civil Service Comm'n, 949 P.2d 746

STATE STATUTES

Utah Const. Art. 1, § 7

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-8

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-12

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-18

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-302(1)

Utah Code Ann. §§ 67-19a-402 through 408

Utah Admin. Code R477-1-1

Utah Admin. Code R477-3-3

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Appellant Lorin Blauer's claims in this action center around his September 9, 2003, demotion from Legal/Enforcement Counsel III to the equivalent of an Administrative Law Judge–Non-Juris Doctorate, without cause (and, in fact, as a corrective or disciplinary action, and in apparent retaliation for having successfully challenged an unfavorable performance review).

Plaintiff filed a grievance concerning his demotion with DWS' Executive Director pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 17-19a-302. By letter dated October 14, 2003, and without hearing on the issue of whether DWS had cause to demote Plaintiff, DWS upheld Plaintiff's demotion by his supervisor, contending that the action was simply a reassignment because, "You retain your title as legal counsel and you maintain the same pay and pay range. It is not a demotion."

Plaintiff thereafter appealed DWS' decision to the CSRB, whose administrator declined jurisdiction on November 12, 2003, claiming that Plaintiff raised no grievance reviewable by CSRB under existing law.

On December 2, 2003, Plaintiff requested reconsideration of CSRB's declination of jurisdiction. By order dated December 22, 2003, CSRB's administrator denied Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration, and again refused to permit CSRB to hear Plaintiff's grievance.

Plaintiff filed this action before the lower court on January 6, 2004, and moved for summary judgment on March 22, 2004. On April 19, 2004, Defendant/Appellee (which had already filed a Motion to Dismiss on February 6, 2004, and received no ruling thereon) filed a Cross-motion for Summary Judgment and Response in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment; a Response in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Cross-motion for Summary Judgment; an Affidavit of Chuck Butler in Support of Cross-motion for Summary Judgment and Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment; an Affidavit of Patricia Barrett in Support of Cross-motion for Summary Judgment; an Affidavit of Kevin Beutler in Support of Cross-motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment; an Affidavit of JoAnne Campbell in support of Defendant's Cross-motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment; an Affidavit of Tani Downing in Support of Defendant's Cross-motion for Summary Judgment and Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment; an Affidavit of Thomas E. Patterson in Support of Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment; a Rule 56(f) Motion for Continuance; a Memorandum and Affidavit in Support of Rule 56(f) Motion for Continuance; a Rule 16(b) Motion for Schedule and Management Conference; and a Memorandum in Support of Rule 16(b) Motion for Scheduling and Management Conference.

Pending motions were argued to the court on June 24, 2004. By Memorandum Decision dated August 16, 2004, the lower court denied DWS' Motion to Dismiss; granted in part and denied in part DWS' Cross Motion for Summary Judgment, denied in part and granted in part Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, and implicitly denied DWS' remaining motions. Specifically, the lower court held that, as a matter of law, Plaintiff was not "demoted" under applicable law, as he suffered no loss of pay or benefits. It is from the lower court's determination, in granting DWS' Cross Motion for Summary Judgment as it relates to Plaintiff's having been demoted, that Plaintiff appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Plaintiff began employment with DWS in December of 1980, as a temporary, part-time employee. (Affidavit of Lorin Blauer, hereafter "Blauer Affidavit," R. 406-487, at ¶ 6).

2. Effective September 14, 1981, Plaintiff achieved full-time merit status as a "Career Service Employee," with a working title of "Legal Counsel." (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 7.)

3. As Legal Counsel for DWS, Plaintiff's tasks included advising the Workforce Appeals Board (formerly Board of Review), writing its decisions and defending those decisions in the Utah Court of Appeals and the Utah Supreme Court. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 8.)

4. Plaintiff has at all times been effective and productive in his role as Legal Counsel for DWS, achieving a seventy-five percent (75%) success rate in reported decisions from all matters handled before the Utah Supreme Court or this Court – the highest success rate of any DWS Legal Counsel. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 9.)

5. Utah’s Division of Human Resource Management, or DHRM, which has the responsibility to “prepare, maintain, and revise a position classification plan for each employee position” pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-12, a responsibility which it “may not contract or otherwise delegate . . . to another agency (Utah Code Ann. § 67-19-8), issued “job descriptions” for a “job series” with titles of Legal/Enforcement Counsel I, II, III, and IV, which are benchmarked to Legal/Enforcement Counsel II. These positions require a Juris Doctorate degree and active membership in the Utah State Bar Association. The salary range for this series is 55-70 for Legal/Enforcement Counsel I; 59-74 for Legal/Enforcement Counsel II; 63-78 for Legal/Enforcement Counsel III; and 65-82 for Legal/Enforcement Counsel IV. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 11 and Exhibit 1.)

6. As holder of the title of “Legal/Enforcement Counsel III”, and as an employee performing the functions of that position, Plaintiff was called upon to “provide legal advice to agency management, personnel, the Work Force Appeals Board, agency executive directors, the Commissioner on Decisions of Administrative Law Judges, and/or the entire agency,” and to act “as Chief Liaison between their agencies and the

Attorney General's Office"; further, Plaintiff was to "functionally or directly supervise legal counsel, legal support staff, investigators, and/or auditors" (State of Utah Department of Human Resource Management job description, Legal/Enforcement Counsel III, Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, at Exhibit 1, pp.5-6, R. 420-421).

7. As Legal/Enforcement Counsel III, Plaintiff was to have knowledge concerning "applicable laws, rules, regulations and/or policies and procedures . . . agency and/or organizational program(s) . . . rules of evidence . . . research methods, techniques, and/or sources of information . . . [and] civil and criminal justice laws." (*Id.*)

8. DHRM has also issued a job description with a title of "Administrative Law Judge–Non-Juris Doctorate," which is benchmarked to Rehabilitation Counselor II. The job description does not require a Juris Doctorate degree, or membership in the Utah State Bar, and has a salary step range of only 51-66, and a pay range of \$18.09 - \$27.18 per hour (State of Utah Department of Human Resource Management job description, Administrative Law Judge–Non-Juris Doctorate, Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, at Exhibit 2, R. 425-426).

9. The job description for "Administrative Law Judge – Non-Juris Doctorate" requires the holders of such position to "preside at hearings consistent with provisions of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA) governing adjudicative proceedings," to "conduct hearings and render decisions based on federal and state laws"; to "utilize independent judgment to rule on all issues by evaluating evidence and testimony"; to

“issue written decisions consistent with all applicable laws and rules, conduct pre-hearing conferences to negotiate issues and rule on stipulations and motions regarding discovery and requests for continuances,” to “rule on requests for and issue subpoenas,” and to “provide training to department employees and external customers as requested.” (*Id.*)

10. The knowledge and training required of an Administrative Law Judge – Non Juris Doctorate are limited to “applicable laws, rules, regulations and/or policies and procedures . . . legal processes and procedures . . . formats for a wide variety of legal documents . . . [and] grammar, spelling and punctuation.” (*Id.*)

11. Prior to September 9, 2003, Plaintiff’s title was Legal/Enforcement Counsel III; his salary was at step 76 - ten steps above the highest step for Administrative Law Judge - DWS. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 13.)

12. In addition to his responsibilities as Legal/Enforcement Counsel to DWS, Plaintiff performed, as part of his duties specified under his Position Description Questionnaire (or “PDQ”), additional work in connection with “special assignments.” These additional temporary responsibilities included, on occasion, filling in temporarily as Administrative Law Judge-Non Juris Doctorate. These kinds of undefined temporary additional responsibilities, though, accounted for less than ten percent (10%) of Plaintiff’s overall workload, according to his official job description. His last PDQ, signed by Plaintiff and his then supervisor, Virginia Smith, on April 2 & 3, 1998, lists his duties with the Workforce Appeals Board as fifty percent (50%) of his legal duties. Other than

for the specific period of his temporary assignment as an Appeal Referee (now Administrative Law Judge-Non Juris Doctorate) in 1987, none of Plaintiff's PDQ's included serving as, or performing the duties of, an Administrative Law Judge-Non Juris Doctorate as part of his duties. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 14 and Exhibit 3.)

13. Historically, Plaintiff shared the responsibility of being Legal Counsel to the Workforce Appeals Board of DWS with one or two other attorneys, and the caseload remained fairly consistent for many years. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 15.)

14. Beginning in 1998, however, there was a significant increase in caseload - from 342 in 1998 to 445 in 1999, 485 in 2000, 585 in 2001, and 819 in 2002. There were 971 Board cases during fiscal year ending June 30, 2003. Plaintiff's share of that caseload was 222 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2002, and 443 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2003. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 16 and Exhibits 4 and 5.)

15. According to the Affidavit of Tani Downing, DWS' Director of Legal Services/Appeals (R. 727-840, hereafter "Downing Affidavit"), between the years 2000-2002, terminations increased by 1,100%; unemployment insurance collection work increased by 800%; human resources grievances increased by 300%; unemployment compensation information releases increased by 195%; Workforce Appeals Board cases increased by 69%; Lower Appeals Cases increased by 65.5%; unemployment insurance bankruptcy work increased by 58%; unemployment compensation and public assistance

rules work increased by 50%, and contract work increased by 34%. (Downing Affidavit, R. 727-840, at ¶ 9.)

16. In addition, according to Ms. Downing, the Utah Legislature transferred responsibility for the collection of public assistance overpayments from State Office of Recovery Services to DWS, thus shifting all responsibility for that work to DWS' legal staff from the office of the State Attorney General. (Downing Affidavit, R. 727-840, at ¶ 9.)

17. By Ms. Downing's own testimony, the increase in workload imposed by the foregoing was to be absorbed "by the Department's existing Legal Counsel". (Downing Affidavit, R. 727-840, at ¶ 9.)

18. In this position, Plaintiff received annual performance appraisals; prior to 2003, all such appraisals had been extremely favorable. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 17 and Exhibit 6.)

19. In his 2003 performance appraisal, however, Plaintiff's performance score was dropped 21 points from his 2002 performance rating, resulting in an "unsuccessful" rating. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 18 and Exhibits 7 and 8.)

20. Plaintiff's supervisor, Tani Downing, gave no objective, measurable evidence to support the reduction in rating, but claimed reliance on unsubstantiated information which she refused to share with Plaintiff. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 19 and Exhibit 8.)

21. Plaintiff challenged his 2003 performance rating through public employee grievance process before DWS' Executive Director, Raylene Ireland, noting that his performance had been exemplary despite increased workload, and that his job description failed to offer objective performance standards or criteria. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 20 and Exhibit 5).

22. In answer to Plaintiff's grievance before the Executive Director, his supervisor acknowledged errors in her conducting of Plaintiff's performance appraisal and could not offer any specific elements, criteria, or evidence of Plaintiff's job failure. She did not respond to Plaintiff's statement in his Response that his share of the Workforce Appeals Board caseload doubled from 222 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2002, to 443 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2003. Instead she insisted that "the other attorneys' assignments either had more workload than yours to begin with, or their workload has increased more significantly than yours has, leading to an inequity between what the other attorneys individually carry and what you carry." She has never produced any evidence to support this untrue contention. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 21 and Exhibit 9.)

23. By letter dated September 5, 2003, DWS' Executive Director granted Plaintiff's appeal and awarded him a successful performance rating for 2003. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 22.)

24. Thereafter, though, by letter dated September 9, 2003, DWS, through Ms. Downing, took “corrective action” against Plaintiff (even though his “unsuccessful” performance rating had been overturned on appeal) by reassigning him to conduct administrative law hearings full-time. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 23 and Exhibit 10; Downing Affidavit, R. 727-840, ¶ 39.)

25. As such, Plaintiff was stripped of all duties, functions and responsibilities as legal counsel and could only conduct administrative hearings as an Administrative Law Judge in a forum for which a Juris Doctorate Degree is not required. *Id.*

26. Plaintiff’s responsibilities after his “reassignment” are, in fact, the mirror image of the Utah State Department of Human Resource Management’s job description for “Administrative Law Judge – Non-Juris Doctorate.” Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, at Exhibit 2.)

27. Simultaneously, Ms. Downing advertised for a new Legal/Enforcement Counsel and promoted Tiffany Vincent, then an Administrative Law Judge–Non-Juris Doctorate into the position of Legal/Enforcement Counsel III with its accompanying raise in status, classification, pay range, opportunity, and level of duties and responsibilities. Ms. Vincent’s reassignment was treated as a promotion. (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, ¶ 24 and Exhibit 11.)

28. Ms. Downing’s reasons for Plaintiff’s “reassignment” were somewhat vague in her September 9 memo (Blauer Affidavit, R. 406-487, at Exhibit 10). In DWS’

submittals to the trial court in support of its motions, though, Ms. Downing was far more voluble concerning Plaintiff's supposed job failings, alleging (without opportunity for cross-examination):

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