2004

Lorin Blauer v. Utah Department of Workforce Services : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Summary of Argument

This Court should vacate the entire judgment below and dismiss Blauer's complaint with prejudice because, under UAPA, the district court lacked jurisdiction over Blauer's claim for judicial review of the CSRB's decision on his grievance, and under UARA, the district court also lacked jurisdiction over Blauer's challenge to the administrative rule defining a demotion. Jurisdiction failed over the CSRB because Blauer failed to make the CSRB a party to his petition for judicial review. Jurisdiction failed over Blauer's challenge to the administrative rule because Blauer failed to first file a petition for a rule change with the Department of Human Resource Management, the rulemaking agency.

Even if the district court had properly exercised jurisdiction over Blauer's claim that he was demoted, that claim fails on its merits. In challenging the district court's application of the administrative rule defining demotion, Blauer ignores the undisputed material facts on the record below. Those facts demonstrate that Blauer's supervisor made a temporary change in Blauer's duties by assigning him to unemployment insurance adjudications on a full-time basis because of valid concerns about Blauer's performance, and in response to Blauer's own request for an assignment that would provide him clear expectations of what comprised a full forty-hour workload. The undisputed material facts also demonstrate that the adjudications were already within the core duties of Blauer's position as one of several Legal Counsel for the Department, and that the assignment change did not affect Blauer's pay, pay range, benefits, prospective benefits, position, title, supervision, or any other condition of his employment. Accordingly, the district court correctly held that Blauer was not demoted within the meaning of the administrative

rule defining demotion as a movement from one job or position to another job or position having a lower salary range.

Similarly, even if the district court had properly exercised jurisdiction over Blauer's challenge to the rule under this Court's decision in Draughon, that challenge also fails on its merits. The Department of Human Resource amended the rule defining demotion in response to the Draughon decision. The new rule eliminates the loss of pay as the defining element of a demotion and requires instead only a movement to a position with a lower salary range. Because the new rule is anchored to the statutory classification system, it is entirely consistent with both the holding of this Court in Draughon and with the legislative intent behind the statutory scheme of the Utah Personnel Management Act and the Utah Grievance and Appeal Procedures Act. Thus, this Court should in the alternative affirm the judgment dismissing Blauer's claim that he was demoted.

Argument

1. The district court lacked jurisdiction over Blauer's claim seeking judicial review of the CSRB's decision

A. UAPA required Blauer to make the CSRB a party to his complaint for judicial review

The district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Blauer's challenge to the CSRB's decision because Blauer failed to name the CSRB as a party to his complaint as required by the Utah Administrative Procedures Act ("UAPA").⁹ Blauer contended that he was demoted in violation of the Utah Personnel Management Act ("Personnel Management Act").¹⁰ The Personnel Management Act is enforceable only in

⁹Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-46b-0.5 to -21 (West 2004).

¹⁰Utah Code Ann. §§ 67-19-1 to -42 (West 2004)

administrative proceedings before the CSRB under the Grievance and Appeal Procedures Act and judicial review of those administrative proceedings under UAPA.¹¹ See Hom v. Dep't of Pub. Safety, 962 P.2d 95, 99-101 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (dismissing for lack of jurisdiction state employee's claim for breach of contract based on Personnel Management Act when employee failed to exhaust administrative remedies before CSRB). Blauer exhausted his remedies for his alleged demotion in the CSRB, but then deprived the district court of subject matter jurisdiction over the administrative proceedings by failing to make the CSRB a defendant in his complaint as required by UAPA. Without CSRB as a party, the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider Blauer's challenge to the CSRB's decision.

Under UAPA, the district courts have jurisdiction to review "final agency actions" resulting from informal adjudicative proceedings. Section 63-46b-15(1)(a). To vest the district court with jurisdiction over a particular proceeding, however, a party must meet the requirements of section 63-46b-14. Accordingly, the party must exhaust all available administrative remedies under subsection 14(2). Hom, 962 P.2d at 101. In addition, the party must file a petition for judicial review under subsection 14(3).¹²

Subsection 14(3) sets forth two basic requirements. First, the petition must be filed "within 30 days after the date that the order constituting final agency action is issued." Section 63-46b-14(3)(a); Bonded Bicycle Couriers v. Dep't of Employment Sec., 844 P.2d 358, 359 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (dismissing untimely filed petition for review for lack of jurisdiction). Second, the petition must "*name the agency* and all other

¹¹See Grievance and Appeals Procedures Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 67-19a-101 to -408 (West 2004)

¹²A petition for review of informal adjudicative proceedings is filed in the form of a complaint. Section 63-46b-15(2)(a).

appropriate parties as respondents and shall meet the form requirements specified in this chapter.” Section 63-46b-14(3)(b) (emphasis added).

In a petition seeking judicial review of CSRB proceedings, the “agency” that must be made a respondent is the CSRB.¹³ The purpose of the requirement of naming the agency is to obtain jurisdiction over the agency that conducted the adjudicative proceedings to be reviewed. Without such jurisdiction, the reviewing court would be powerless to affirm, reverse, remand, modify, or even vacate the agency action. See Ostler v. Buhler, 1999 UT 99, ¶7, 989 P.2d 1073 (noting that the court lacked jurisdiction to make ruling in favor of nonparty); see also Openshaw v. Openshaw, 12 P.2d 364, 365 (Utah 1932) (holding that “decree in favor of a person who is not a party to the action or proceeding is void because the court has no jurisdiction to make it”).

This Court should interpret the term “agency” in subsection 14(3)(b) in a manner consistent with its purpose. See In re Kunz, 2004 UT 71, ¶ 8, 99 P.3d 793 (holding court should interpret language of statute in light of its purpose). To interpret the requirement otherwise would render it meaningless or absurd in many cases. Although one of the parties in this case happens to be an agency, many administrative proceedings involve only private parties.¹⁴ In such cases, the requirement of naming the agency as a

¹³See, e.g., State v. CSRB, 2004 UT App 171, 92 P.3d 776 (CSRB named as respondent in case seeking “review of a final decision of the [CSRB]”); Lunnen v. UDOT, 886 P.2d 70, 71 (Utah Ct. App 1994) (same); Kent v. CSRB, 860 P.2d 984 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (same); Holland v. CSRB, 856 P.2d 678 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (same); Lopez v. CSRB, 834 P.2d 568 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (same).

¹⁴See, e.g., Thomas v. Color Country Mgmt., 2004 UT 12, 84 P.3d 1201 (judicial review of administrative action of Labor Commission, which was named as respondent); Gilley v. Blackstock, 2002 UT App. 414, 61 P.3d 305 (judicial review of administrative action of Department of Public Safety, which was named as respondent); Longley v. Leucadia Fin. Co., 2000 UT 69, 9 P.3d 762 (judicial review of administrative action of state engineer, who was named as respondent).

respondent would be meaningless unless it means the agency whose final action is being challenged in the petition. See Hall v. Dep't of Corr., 2001 UT 34, ¶ 15, 24 P.3d 958 (holding court should avoid interpretations that will render portions of a statute superfluous or meaningless).

Blauer was required to make the CSRB a defendant in his complaint and his failure to do so deprived the district court of jurisdiction over his claims. Therefore, this Court should vacate the judgment below and summarily dismiss Blauer's complaint. Because the thirty-day period for Blauer to file a complaint naming the CSRB has elapsed, this Court should enter the dismissal with prejudice.

B. The district court lacked jurisdiction over CSRB to remand the case to CSRB

The district court lacked jurisdiction over CSRB because CSRB was never personally served with notice of this proceeding or with the petition, nor did CSRB ever appear as a party in these proceedings. UAPA provides that a petition for judicial review is "governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure." Section 63-46b-15(2)(a). UAPA further requires that "[a]ll additional pleadings and proceedings in the district court are governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure." Section 63-46b-15(2)(b). Yet the record is devoid of any personal or substitute service upon CSRB, as required by Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Moreover, Blauer acknowledged below that only the Department was made a respondent. R. 61.

If CSRB had been properly made a party, and served, the district court would have had jurisdiction over CSRB to remand pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-17(1)(b). But an order purporting to command a non-party to perform an act is void for lack of personal jurisdiction. See Ostler v. Buhler, 1999 UT 99, ¶7, 989 P.2d 1073) (noting that

the court lacked jurisdiction to make ruling in favor of nonparty); see also Openshaw v. Openshaw, 12 P.2d 364, 365 (Utah 1932) (holding that “decree in favor of a person who is not a party to the action or proceeding is void because the court has no jurisdiction to make it”). Because CSRB was never made a party and served with notice of this proceeding, the district court’s order remanding the case to CSRB is void for lack of jurisdiction and should be vacated.

2. The district court lacked jurisdiction over Blauer’s challenge to the rule defining demotion because he failed to exhaust his administrative remedies in the rulemaking agency

Because Blauer never exhausted his administrative remedies in the Department of Human Resource Management (“Human Resource Department”), the district court lacked jurisdiction over Blauer’s claim that the administrative rule defining demotion is inconsistent with the governing statutes. Blauer contends that the reasoning of Draughon v. Utah Department of Financial Institutions, 1999 UT App 42, 975 P.2d 935, requires this Court to invalidate Rule 477-1(32) of the Utah Administrative Code, which defines a demotion. Rule 477-1(32) was promulgated by the Human Resource Department, and is a successor to the administrative rule considered in Draughon. In Draughon, this Court held that the prior rule was inconsistent with the statutory scheme of the Personnel Management Act and the Grievance and Appeals Procedures Act. 1999 UT App 42, ¶ 11.

The rule considered in Draughon distinguish[ed] between a demotion and an ‘involuntary assignment’ solely on the basis of an immediate loss of pay. 1999 UT App 42, ¶ 11. In response to the Draughon decision, however, the Human Resource Department amended its rule defining demotion. Unlike the prior rule, the current definition does not require any loss of pay. Rather, it only requires a movement “from

one job or position to another job or position having a lower salary range.” Rule 477-1(32). Thus, in seeking to apply the reasoning of Draughon to Rule 477-1(32), Blauer challenges the rule itself, rather than simply the interpretation and application of the rule.

The procedural posture of this case, however, is far different from that in Draughon. In Draughon, the demotion issue was before this Court on appeal from the district court’s review of the denial of a petition for a rule change filed with the Human Resource Department. 1999 UT App 42, ¶ 3. Thus, the employee in Draughon had exhausted his administrative remedies in the rulemaking agency before seeking judicial review of his challenge to the demotion rule.

Unlike Draughon, Blauer has never exhausted his administrative remedies in the Human Resource Department. Under the Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act (“UARA”),¹⁵ a person aggrieved by an administrative rule may obtain judicial review of the rule only after exhausting administrative remedies. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46a-12.1(2) (West 2004). Specifically, the aggrieved party must exhaust that party’s administrative remedies under section 63-46a-12 – that is, by petitioning the rulemaking agency for amendment or repeal of the rule. Alternatively, jurisdiction will still lie if the party seeking judicial review can demonstrate that exhaustion of administrative remedies is not required under any of the exceptions in Utah Code Ann. § 63-46a-12.1(b).

Here, Blauer has not alleged that he filed a petition to change or repeal Rule 477-1(32) with the Human Resource Department. Nor has he alleged that he meets any of the statutory exceptions to the exhaustion requirement. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46a-12.1(3)(a)(v) (West 2004) (requiring allegation that person filing complaint has either

¹⁵Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-46a-1 to -16 (West 2004).

exhausted the administrative remedies or met the requirements for waiver of exhaustion requirement). Accordingly, the district court was deprived of jurisdiction over Blauer's challenge to Rule 477-1(32). See Bluth v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 2002 UT 91, ¶¶ 14-16, 54 P.3d 1147 (holding that the district court lacked jurisdiction to hear a facial challenge to an administrative rule where grievant neither exhausted administrative remedies nor qualified for exception to exhaustion rule). Therefore, this Court also lacks subject matter jurisdiction over Blauer's challenge to Rule 477-1(32) based on this Court's decision in Draughon. This Court should therefore vacate the decision below to the extent that it purported to apply the Draughon decision to Rule 477-1(32).¹⁶

3. Blauer failed to establish that he was demoted

Even if Blauer had properly conferred subject matter jurisdiction on both the district court and this Court over his claims for judicial review of the CSRB's decision and of his challenge to Rule 477-1(32), his appeal would still fail on its merits. The district court correctly held that Blauer failed to demonstrate that he was "demoted" and therefore that the CSRB lacked jurisdiction over his grievance. The CSRB has only the limited jurisdiction conferred on it by the Legislature. Therefore, an employee who appeals the denial of a grievance has the initial burden of establishing the CSRB's jurisdiction over the grievance. See Lopez v. CSRB, 834 P.2d 568, 573 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (stating the CSRB does not have jurisdiction over all personnel matters and "[i]t is axiomatic that a party wishing to bring a matter before a tribunal with limited subject

¹⁶In addition, as discussed in Point 3.B below, the Draughon decision does not support Blauer's contention that he was demoted.

matter jurisdiction must present sufficient facts to invoke the limited jurisdiction of that tribunal”).

The CSRB’s jurisdiction is statutorily defined by Utah Code section 67-19a-202(1), which states:

(a) The board shall serve as the final administrative body to review appeals from career service employees and agencies of decisions about promotions, dismissals, *demotions*, suspensions, written reprimands, wages, salary, violations of personnel rules, issues concerning the equitable administration of benefits, reductions in force, and disputes concerning abandonment of position that have not been resolved at an earlier stage in the grievance procedure.

(b) The board has no jurisdiction to review or decide any other personnel matters.

Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-202(1) (West 2004)(emphasis added). All other matters may be grieved only to the level of the department head, whose decision is final and unappealable. See Section 67-19a-302. Under section 67-19a-202(1), unless Blauer can demonstrate that the change in his assignment was a “demotion,” his assignment is a personnel matter outside the CSRB’s jurisdiction. He cannot.

Neither the Career Services Review Act nor the Utah Personnel Management Act defines a demotion. Utah Administrative Rule 477-1(32), however, defines demotion as

An action resulting in a salary reduction on the current salary range or the **movement of an incumbent from one job or position to another job or position having a lower salary range**, which may include a reduction in salary Id.

Utah Admin. R. 477-1(32) (emphasis added). As discussed in Point 2 above, this Court invalidated a prior administrative rule that defined demotion in Draughon v. Utah Department of Financial Institutions, 1999 UT App 42, 975 P.2d 935. In response to the Draughon decision, the Human Resource Department replaced the previous rules with Rule 477-1(32). Unlike the former rule addressed in Draughon, the new definition does

not require any loss of pay. Rather, it requires only a movement “from one . . . job or position to another job or position having a lower salary range.” Id.

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